

April 2021

Disclaimer: This student paper was prepared in 2021 in partial completion of the requirements for Public Policy 804, a course in the Masters of Public Policy Program at Duke University's Sanford School of Public Policy. The research, analysis, and policy alternatives contained in this paper are the work of the student team that authored the document. They do not represent the official or unofficial views of the Sanford School of Public Policy or of Duke University. Without the specific permission of its authors, this paper may not be used or cited for any purpose other than to inform the client organization about the subject matter.

Executive Summary: Unlocking Promise Program Potential in North Carolina's Community Colleges

North Carolina can make meaningful progress toward increasing statewide postsecondary educational attainment by **expanding access to community college through a statewide community college Promise Program**. Promise Programs have demonstrably increased postsecondary attainment in places where they have been implemented.¹ North Carolina can learn from other states and 19 North Carolina Community College System (NCCCS) schools with Promise Programs to identify best design practices for a statewide community college Promise Program that would increase postsecondary **attainment**, maximize **access** and **equity**, and be **cost-effective**.

The degree to which a Promise Program addresses the three key values of access, equity, and costeffectiveness varies with program design. The main design elements of a Promise Program are:



Funding Structure: How the scholarship is funded.



Eligibility Requirements: The criteria students must meet to qualify for the program.



Persistence Requirements: The criteria for maintaining scholarship eligibility once enrolled.

To identify best practices for Promise Program design, a team of graduate students at Duke University's Sanford School of Public Policy reviewed existing research, conducted case studies, interviewed administrators from NCCCS schools with Promise Programs, and analyzed postsecondary education data. Through a mixed methods research approach, the team found that North Carolina could **incorporate the following best practices** in a statewide community college Promise Program to increase attainment and maximize access, equity, and cost-effectiveness:

 Adopt a middle-dollar funding scheme for students' tuition, fees, and supply costs, with available funds for students' additional expenses, combined with a Free Application for Federal Student Aid (FAFSA) requirement.

A first-dollar scheme can improve access by fully funding every student and a last-dollar scheme can maximize direct cost-effectiveness by only using Promise Program funding to fill in gaps left by federal and other aid. However, a middle-dollar scheme **balances access**, **equity**, **and cost-effectiveness** by leveraging all available resources and funding critical additional expenses, like rent, for students with financial difficulties. Requiring Promise Program applicants to submit the FAFSA, with completion support offered by community colleges, bolsters cost-effectiveness by ensuring that students will apply for external aid.

A middle-dollar Promise Program, covering both tuition and non-tuition costs, would be a worthwhile investment for North Carolina.² NCCCS Promise Program administrators have passionately underscored the **barrier posed by non-tuition costs**, like books, which could be mitigated by a middle-dollar funding scheme.³ Oregon uses a middle-dollar funding scheme for their statewide Promise Program, which has been associated with increased community college enrollment and a decreased racial/ethnic enrollment gap.⁴

2. **Avoid eligibility requirements**, particularly merit-based criteria.

Eligibility requirements restrict the pool of applicants and potential students a Promise Program can cover, negatively impacting access and, potentially, equity. Research indicates that Promise Programs without merit eligibility restrictions tend to **improve postsecondary education access.** Two NCCCS Promise Program administrators noted that merit requirements like Career and College Promise participation advantage students who are already poised for postsecondary success. However, students who are less equipped for postsecondary success tend to be associated with a relatively lower socioeconomic status and are therefore the most likely to benefit from Promise Programs. Thus, merit-based eligibility requirements can limit access for students who Promise Programs should be reaching and who are critical to increasing the level of postsecondary attainment in the state.

Incorporate proven persistence requirements of an annual credit and cumulative GPA
minimum, paired with mandatory support services for students struggling with college
academic requirements.

Research shows that **merit persistence requirements, like GPA thresholds, increase the probability of degree completion.**⁷ Requiring an annual, as opposed to per-semester, credit minimum allows students to balance course schedules with other responsibilities. Using a cumulative minimum GPA for graduation supports attainment while giving students flexibility if they experience challenging circumstances during a semester. Finally, research also shows that participation in support services, like academic counseling, can facilitate program completion.⁸

Table of Contents

Executive Summary: Unlocking Promise Program Potential in North	Carolina's
Community Colleges	i
Why Does NC Need a Community College Promise Program?	1
What Design Practices Should an NC-Wide Program Include?	3
Effective Program Design: What the Research Tells Us	5
Lessons from Existing Statewide Programs	8
Lessons from Existing NCCCS Promise Programs	11
Conclusion: Statewide Community College Promise Program Key to	
Education Future	14
Appendix A: Research Methodology	15
Appendix B: Key Term Definitions	16
Appendix C: Overview of Promise Program Design Criteria	17
Appendix D: Interview Guide	18
Appendix E: Data Request	19
Appendix F: Additional Quantitative Data Analysis Findings	20
Appendix G: Further Research	23

Acknowledgements: The research team is very grateful to the NCCCS administrators who agreed to be interviewed and/or provided data for this research. The information gleaned from these interviews and data were extremely useful in understanding the NCCCS Promise Program landscape. The team is also grateful to Public Policy 804 Professor, John Quinterno, and Teaching Assistant, Madelyne Huibregtse, for their helpful insight and support in completing this report.

Why Does NC Need a Community College Promise Program?

Policy Question and Key Criteria

Promise Programs contribute to community and economic development by increasing access and affordability of postsecondary education through scholarships tied to residency in a defined territory. Given growing interest in Promise Programs, this report investigates the following research question: What best design practices would a North Carolina-wide community college Promise Program need to incorporate to increase postsecondary attainment, maximize access and equity, and be cost-effective?

To answer this question, the team reviewed existing research on Promise Programs, conducted case studies on three existing statewide Promise Programs, interviewed administrators from four North Carolina Community College System (NCCCS) schools with Promise Programs, and analyzed postsecondary education data. Best practices were analyzed against three key values: **access**, **equity, and cost-effectiveness**. See **Appendix A** for more details on the research methodology.

Access is defined in this project as the relative ease with which potential students can enter the community college system. Maximizing access means ensuring that the relative cost of attendance is affordable (see **Appendix B** for a definition of "affordable" and other key terms), expanding eligibility for scholarships, and minimizing administrative hurdles in higher education.

Equity is defined here primarily in terms of race and socioeconomic status. The Center for Racial Equity in Education defines racial equity as "a state in which educational access and outcomes are independent of students' social racial/ethnic backgrounds." Socioeconomic equity is defined as a state in which educational access, opportunities, and outcomes are independent of the socioeconomic status of students. Maximizing equity means improving educational outcomes for students of all racial/ethnic and socioeconomic backgrounds.

Cost-effectiveness is defined as the degree to which the Promise Program is successful in achieving its goal in relation to its cost.¹¹ This definition considers both direct and indirect savings and expenses from the program. Maximizing cost-effectiveness requires a clear goal and finding the least costly option to achieve it.

The Need for a Statewide Community College Promise Program in NC

North Carolina's "Two Million by 2030" goal aims for two million individuals ages 25 to 44 to hold postsecondary credentials by 2030; currently, only 1.3 million residents in this age bracket hold these credentials. This goal, set in 2019, stemmed from a growing need for high-skilled labor, as reports showed North Carolina employers struggling to fill positions due to a lack of trained

applicants.¹³ Overall, 52.1% of residents ages 25 to 64 hold postsecondary qualifications, a figure in line with the national average of 51.9%.¹⁴

Education affordability is likely the biggest barrier to attainment in the state. Respondents to a 2018 EdNC and myFutureNC survey were asked which factors affected their decisions about when to end their formal schooling, and the most common response was "too expensive to continue." The affordability gap means students are acquiring more debt to offset their inability to pay for their studies, which raises problems in terms of access, equity, and cost-effectiveness for the state. In North Carolina, state loan default rates are higher than the US average. ¹⁶

Promise Programs have been championed as a way for policymakers to address education affordability issues. President Joe Biden has expressed support of a free community college plan. Although definitions vary, most college Promise Programs across the US are "last-dollar", meaning students must complete the Free Application for Federal Student Aid (FAFSA) and use any federal aid money on tuition expenses. Under this funding scheme, any gap between federal and other aid and tuition costs are paid by the program. A few statewide Promise Programs are "first-dollar", in which funding is not contingent on other aid. Most first-dollar programs fully cover tuition, allowing students who receive other aid to apply that aid towards other expenses. These programs generally have a higher cost per student than last-dollar programs. Lastly, there are "middle-dollar" programs, which provide last-dollar coverage, plus a guaranteed scholarship amount. Between the support of the programs and the programs are "middle-dollar" programs, which provide last-dollar coverage, plus a guaranteed scholarship amount.

There are more than 365 college Promise Programs operating in at least 47 states.¹⁹ According to our Promise Program definition, 30 states and DC provide statewide Promise Programs targeted at two-year colleges or both two- and four-year colleges.²⁰ In North Carolina, a few statewide programs exist—such as the Career & College Promise (CCP), Carolina Covenant, and NC Promise—yet none fully fund community college students.²¹

Currently, 19 community colleges in North Carolina offer Promise Programs. These scholarships are generally limited to residents of the county or counties served by the college, have minimum GPA requirements, only cover up to four semesters, and require entering community college the year after high school graduation. Some of these programs require students to have participated in the statewide CCP.²²

5 reasons the NCCCS is crucial to achieving NC's "2 Million by 2030" goal



1) NCCCS colleges provide trained workers to the labor market in shorter timeframes than four-year institutions.



2) There is an NCCCS college within a 30-minute drive of nearly every NC resident.



3) The NCCCS offers multiple options for part-time students, many of whom are also working.



4) A community college education can encourage many students to advance to a bachelor's degree.



5) The NCCCS is more affordable than most NC public four-year universities.

What Design Practices Should an NC-Wide Program Include?

Promise Programs are effective tools for increasing educational attainment. However, the degree to which a program increases attainment and how effectively it maximizes access and equity while being cost-effective varies with program design. The main design elements of a Promise Program are its funding structure, eligibility requirements, and persistence requirements. For an overview of the criteria within each of these design elements, see **Appendix C**. Below, for each of the funding, eligibility, and persistence criteria, the team identifies best practices that North Carolina should consider if it were to implement a statewide community college Promise Program.



Funding Structure

Use a **middle-dollar funding scheme**. In addition to **last-dollar coverage**, which would ideally apply to students' **tuition**, **fees**, **and supply costs**, this would include a set amount each year that can be disbursed for **additional expenses** (e.g., rent) through a need-based application process. Last-dollar programs can introduce considerable access and equity concerns in comparison to the other funding schemes, so it would be ideal for a statewide Promise Program to have either a first-dollar or middle-dollar funding scheme. If the North Carolina budget does not have enough revenue to finance additional expenses for all students, the program should offer tuition, fee, and supply coverage to all eligible students and prioritize additional aid for low- and middle-income students. In this sense, a middle-dollar program may be more cost-effective than a first-dollar program because the college can allocate funds based on the specific circumstances of every student.

Require all Promise Program applicants to **complete the FAFSA**. The FAFSA is a necessary step for middle- and last-dollar funding models because it requires students to apply for federal aid. To ensure that this requirement does not become a barrier, which would negatively impact access, equity, and attainment, community colleges should provide optional support to students as they complete the FAFSA (see "Support Services" in Persistence Requirements).



Eligibility Requirements

Preferably, the Promise Program should **not have an age restriction**. If needed, define age eligibility to include those who graduated high school in the last five years, and implement a separate scholarship program for older students, like the Tennessee Reconnect program. If North Carolina needs to limit age eligibility for direct cost-effectiveness, the program should not be restricted to those who have just graduated, because this would hinder access and equity. Further, estimates show that even if the high school graduation rate were 100% and these students enrolled directly to college, the state would likely not achieve 60% attainment by 2025.²³

Do not use a financial need threshold for eligibility. Though there may be some equity concerns if a program is not restricting its eligibility to lower-income students, not having a financial need cap would maximize access and attainment.

Promise Program eligibility **should not be limited to specific degree programs.** Research was inconclusive about the effects of limiting eligibility to specific degree programs, but general findings suggest that any additional eligibility restrictions would limit postsecondary access and attainment and have uncertain effects on equity and cost-effectiveness.

Avoid merit-based requirements for eligibility. To maximize access, equity, and attainment, it is advisable to forego any merit eligibility requirements in favor of merit requirements for persistence (see "Merit" in Persistence Requirements).



Persistence Requirements

Require an **annual credit minimum**, equivalent to the credit hours of two full-time semesters (i.e., **allow part-time students**). Consider leaves of absence on a case-by-case basis. Mandating full-time, continuous enrollment in the Fall and Spring semesters is an access and equity issue for those who have specific academic needs or non-academic obligations. An annual credit minimum allows students to spread coursework across a full calendar year, not limited to two semesters, providing flexibility if students cannot take a full course load in a semester.

Provide **FAFSA** and college application support services (e.g., FAFSA assistance events) to prospective students. Non-mandatory support services would increase access, equity, and attainment by providing the assistance students need to attend and complete college.

Mandate **support services** (e.g., counseling) for enrolled students who are not meeting other persistence requirements. Research has shown that mandatory support services can help students remain in college.²⁴

Do not require community service for Promise Program participation. There is limited research on the effect of community service requirements on Promise Program attainment, access, equity, or cost-effectiveness. In the absence of an established positive influence on these outcomes, such a requirement is a potential barrier to participation.

Require a **cumulative GPA of 2.0** over the course of study. This requirement uses the standard minimum GPA for maintaining federal aid to ensure that students obtain the academic knowledge needed to graduate. A cumulative GPA instead of a 2.0 GPA for each semester increases access, equity, and attainment by offering flexibility if students performed poorly in some semesters.

Effective Program Design: What the Research Tells Us

Though research on Promise Programs is relatively new, various think tanks, nonprofits, and academics have identified some best practices for program design.²⁵

Overall, Promise Programs are effective in increasing educational attainment and promoting equity. Although estimations vary, studies have found some Promise Programs increased the attainment of any postsecondary credential by as much as ten percentage points.²⁶ Additionally, researchers have found that community college Promise Programs increase enrollment across racial/ethnic groups.²⁷

A variety of program designs increase postsecondary credential attainment, but those with limited and simple requirements tend to be more effective in increasing access and reducing administrative costs.²⁸ Also, there is evidence that Promise Programs in which many students are not confident that they will be eligible for the scholarship have smaller impacts on enrollment than programs that provide more certainty.²⁹



Funding Structure

First-dollar **funding schemes** lead to higher enrollment rates and increase equity by removing socioeconomic barriers.³⁰ Though the investment for first-dollar programs is higher, the returns on investment may be budget neutral or net positive when considering potential savings and increased tax revenues in the future.³¹ Estimations developed for the US House of Representatives' Education and Labor Committee in 2019 found that for every \$1 a state invests in higher education, it gets up to \$4.50 in return.³² In North Carolina, 2013-2014 estimations suggest that every \$1 invested in the NCCCS had an approximate return of \$4.10 in benefits.³³ Furthermore, research shows that helping low-income individuals attend college is key for poverty reduction in a community, and education can have beneficial social effects on arrest and teen birth rates.³⁴

Last-dollar programs require a lower investment, but they generate mixed effects in terms of access and create equity concerns.³⁵ Given a fixed budget, last-dollar programs can increase access by serving more people because they distribute less money per student. However, they also have a negative effect on access due to more administrative hurdles (such as **FAFSA completion**) and provide no financial aid for non-tuition-and-fee costs, which make the overall cost of school prohibitive for many students.³⁶ Since federal need-based aid is applied first to pay for tuition, these programs provide fewer or no non-tuition funds to students with the most need, as their direct academic costs are largely or fully covered by federal aid.³⁷

Experimental evidence suggests that offering students aid to cover housing, food, and other living expenses increases the probability of attainment.³⁸ Homelessness and food insecurity are common

among community college students in the US, so providing additional financial support for low-income students is an important consideration in a funding scheme decision.³⁹ Although they identify as last-dollar, two statewide Promise Programs—Hawaii and Oregon—cover additional expenses through some middle-dollar coverage.⁴⁰



Eligibility Requirements

Regarding **age** requirements, research finds that only a few states will be able to reach a postsecondary education attainment goal of 60% of the population by 2025—in line with the national trend on educational goals—without students who are not recent high school graduates also entering higher education. An age requirement is a cutoff that substantially reduces direct costs and provides resources to people generally closer to the high school experience, who are the most likely to complete college. However, many students are not able to enroll in college immediately after high school. Providing older prospective students with options to obtain postsecondary education in a separate program, like Tennessee is doing with Tennessee Reconnect, might be an effective path to promote attainment, access, and equity by tailoring support services to older adults. In fact, preliminary research results indicate that Tennessee Reconnect reversed the downward trend in adult college attendance in Tennessee.

Research finds that **financial need** caps are associated with lower enrollment across demographic groups, with the exception of Black males, relative to programs without such caps.⁴⁴ Studies also show that **FAFSA completion** is a significant barrier to postsecondary attainment for low-income students.⁴⁵ For a financial need requirement to effectively maximize access and equity, a Promise Program should provide FAFSA completion support. Studies indicate that providing such support effectively encourages students to apply for aid.⁴⁶

There is very limited research on the effect of **degree restrictions** on Promise Programs. These restrictions would limit access and have mixed effects on equity depending on the subject areas favored by the restriction. Because this requirement could influence prospective community college students to study a specific degree, the restriction might be better pursued by individual community college programs or grants that can tailor degree-specificity to local workforce needs.

The literature generally indicates that programs without **merit** eligibility restrictions tend to improve both postsecondary education access and attainment.⁴⁷ Research is mixed on whether programs with merit requirements increase postsecondary enrollment, since relatively high-achieving students were already very likely to participate in higher education.⁴⁸ Evidence is also inconclusive about whether merit requirements enhance academic performance in high schools, which is reportedly one of the intended outcomes of programs with these criteria.⁴⁹

Students who are less equipped for postsecondary success tend to be associated with a relatively lower socioeconomic status and are consequently the most likely to benefit from Promise Programs.⁵⁰ Introducing a merit condition can therefore lead to an ineffective allocation of resources in the community, in which higher-performing students already eligible for other scholarships are the only ones eligible for the Promise Program.



Persistence Requirements

Requiring a **minimum course load** equal to full-time status has a negative effect on access and equity in comparison to programs without that restriction. Many programs have a full-time requirement because research indicates full-time students are more likely to graduate.⁵¹ However, the literature suggests requiring full-time enrollment acts as a barrier for access to the program.⁵² Full-time status might not be possible for many students, especially low-income students, who may need to work to fund their education.⁵³ This need to work for lower-income students is likely heightened when the program provides only tuition-and-fee financial aid.

Research shows that financial aid for postsecondary studies works more effectively when it is paired with well-designed student **support services**. Fere-enrollment support services, like FAFSA assistance, help increase access and equity. Fost-enrollment support services, like academic counseling sessions, can improve student persistence in college and potentially increase graduation rates. One study finds that the proportion of North Carolina high school students with high enough test scores to qualify as "college- and career-ready" is only around 50%. Students who are not "college- and career-ready" might significantly benefit from partaking in mandatory support services, like counseling, if they perform below a merit-based persistence requirement.

Few studies have been conducted on the effect of a **community service** requirement on Promise Program access, equity, and cost-effectiveness. A study on the effect of community service on academic outcomes exposed mixed results.⁵⁸ It is reasonable to think that, if a program has a community service requirement, the number of hours required must be limited since a high number of hours could be detrimental to attainment.

Research shows that a **merit** persistence requirement, such as a minimum GPA, increases the probability of degree completion.⁵⁹ Merit persistence requirements will not decrease access and equity so long as they are in line with the college's cumulative GPA requirement for graduation eligibility. In fact, these requirements can allow program officials to easily identify when a student's low performance might hinder degree completion and target that student for support services.



ESTABLISHED 2014



LAST-DOLLAR
PROMISE PROGRAM

42.7%

OF TN RESIDENTS
AGES 25-64
HOLD A POSTSECONDARY
CREDENTIAL



STATEWIDE FAFSA COMPLETION RATE (2020)

REQUIREMENTS

ELIGIBILITY

Online Application Complete the FAFSA 8 HRS Community Service Attend Meeting

PERSISTENCE

8 HRS Community Service /
Semester
Maintain 2.0 GPA
Maintain Satisfactory Academic
Progress
Renew FAFSA Annually

Lessons from Existing Statewide Programs

Although the national literature provides generalized findings on best practices for Promise Program design, it is useful to see how these practices have been implemented in existing programs. The research team examined three states with programs that have encouraging results in terms of access, equity, and cost-effectiveness: Tennessee, Delaware, and Oregon.

Case Study: Tennessee Promise

Tennessee Promise has become one of the most prominent last-dollar community college Promise Programs in the nation since its inception in 2014. Tennessee Promise is funded through interest generated on a \$361 million endowment fund.⁶⁰ Students can use the Tennessee Promise to cover mandatory tuition and fees.⁶¹ The Program has been so successful that the state created a complimentary program for adult students, Tennessee Reconnect, in 2017.

Available data paint a favorable picture of Tennessee Promise's impacts on access and attainment. Analysis shows that the program has led to a spike in community college enrollment across the state.⁶² Nearly half (46%) of the Tennessee Promise's first cohort of students now hold a postsecondary credential, suggesting that the program has positive effects on attainment.⁶³ Approximately eight percent of all Tennessee Promise participants have transferred to four-year institutions to continue their education, a trend that Tennessee Promise's annual reports indicate is accelerating over time.⁶⁴

Tennessee Promise has also been quite successful at bolstering equity. Annual reports show that community college enrollment increased across genders and racial/ethnic groups in Tennessee, though significantly more female applicants receive Promise funding than male applicants.⁶⁵ Notably, Hispanic student enrollment has been steadily improving, with the percentage of Hispanic students growing from 3.5% to 7.1% from the program's first cohort (2015-2016) to the most recent cohort (2020-2021).⁶⁶

In Spring 2020, the average Tennessee Promise scholarship amount for students receiving funding was \$1,094.67 The restriction of program funds to tuition and fee costs has allowed the program to serve a large number of students with a small amount of aid. As a result, the Tennessee Promise has been able to enroll over 108,000 students in Tennessee postsecondary institutions since 2015.68



ESTABLISHED 2005



LAST-DOLLAR
PROMISE PROGRAM

42.4%

OF DE RESIDENTS
AGES 25-64
HOLD A POSTSECONDARY
CREDENTIAL



STATEWIDE FAFSA COMPLETION RATE (2019)

REQUIREMENTS

ELIGIBILITY

Complete the FAFSA (or equivalent for DACA students) No Felony Convictions 2.5 HS GPA

PERSISTENCE

Minimum 24 Credits / Academic Year Continuous Fall / Spring Enrollment Maintain 2.5 Cumul. GPA Renew FAFSA Annually

Case Study: Delaware SEED

Student Excellence Equals Degree (SEED) is Delaware's largest postsecondary aid program, with an annual budget of \$6 million. SEED recipients can use their funding to cover tuition costs.⁶⁹

Some news outlets have reported that SEED has improved postsecondary access, but exact figures are difficult to find due to a lack of publicly available data. Compared to non-recipients, SEED recipients have displayed higher retention rates and degree completion rates, which are both positive indicators for attainment.

SEED's application requirements have raised equity concerns about the program. It is the only statewide Promise Program to deny any applicant convicted of a felony.⁷² This restriction was designed to deter teenagers from committing serious crimes, but it excludes young people with justice system involvement, for whom a postsecondary degree could be crucial to building a better future and discouraging recidivism.⁷³ Furthermore, SEED requires a minimum high school and college GPA of 2.5, a barrier for students who are less successful academically than their peers.⁷⁴ Given that both youth felony convictions and inadequate public education disproportionately impact vulnerable sectors of the population, these requirements might have negative implications for access and equity.⁷⁵

However, SEED employs some features that have made it more accessible to certain demographic groups. SEED is designed to be need-blind, so students from any socioeconomic background are eligible to receive funding. Recipients have publicly praised this choice, saying it helps cover many middle-class students who are ineligible for federal grants, without requiring above average academic performance. Additionally, SEED is one of only five statewide Promise Programs that accepts Deferred Action for Childhood Arrivals (DACA) recipients.

SEED has met the tuition need of all eligible students since 2006 without ever exceeding an annual budget of \$6 million.⁷⁹ Much of SEED's financial success is due to additional investments from Delaware Tech, which implemented its own programming and additional funding to help most of its SEED recipients successfully graduate without debt.⁸⁰



ESTABLISHED 2015



MIDDLE-DOLLAR PROMISE PROGRAM

47.9%

OF OR RESIDENTS
AGES 25-64
HOLD A POSTSECONDARY
CREDENTIAL



STATEWIDE FAFSA COMPLETION RATE (2020)

REQUIREMENTS

ELIGIBILITY

Online Application Complete the FAFSA/ORSAA 2.5 HS GPA

Meet Annual EFC Limit

PERSISTENCE

Max. 90 Credits Attempted

Maintain Satisfactory Academic

Progress

Maintain Half-Time Continuous

Enrollment Renew FAFSA/ORSAA Annually

Case Study: Oregon Promise

Oregon Promise is known as the country's first middle-dollar statewide Promise Program. 81

A statewide report found that Oregon Promise has increased community college access, with more Oregon high school students choosing to enroll in community college since the program's launch in 2016.82 Early years of enrollment data across Oregon's postsecondary institutions demonstrated that the rise in community college enrollment was accompanied by a slight decline in enrollment at state universities. This is evidence of a "downshift in enrollment" that many scholars have speculated might be a possible consequence of community college-specific Promise Programs.83 Postsecondary enrollment overall saw a slight net increase, yet it is too early to determine if increased access has translated into a net increase in postsecondary attainment.84

Although 77% of Oregon Promise funds go to students not receiving any Pell Grant funding, the program has still produced meaningful results for socioeconomic equity.⁸⁵ Pell Grant recipients are more likely to also be Oregon Promise students, highlighting the utility of this program design to meet additional financial need for low-income students.⁸⁶ In favorable findings for racial equity, Oregon Promise has reduced the racial/ethnic gap in statewide postsecondary enrollment by nearly ten percentage points and accepts DACA recipients, improving access for a vulnerable group.⁸⁷ There have been concerns, though, about reaching more first-generation college students, who are less likely to be Oregon Promise recipients on average and more likely, nationally, to be Black or Hispanic.⁸⁸

Oregon has managed its program with an annual budget of \$40 million, about \$8 million less than experts say is needed to cover all eligible students.⁸⁹ The insufficient funding has effectively made Oregon Promise a "first come, first serve" system in which many eligible students never receive funding.⁹⁰ This problem has only been exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic: Oregon cut the program's budget by \$3.6 million in August 2020 to redistribute to other causes—at the cost of revoking Oregon Promise funding to more than 1,000 recipients.⁹¹

Lessons from Existing NCCCS Promise Programs

Information from NCCCS colleges already implementing Promise Programs provided local context to this research. The data in this section of the report were obtained from seven NCCCS colleges: three were interviewed, three provided data, and one was both interviewed and provided data. Although the qualitative and quantitative data from these colleges are not statistically representative of all 19 NCCCS schools with Promise Programs, they reinforce many conclusions found in the comparative research. See **Appendix D** for the interview questions, **Appendix E** for the list of requested data, and **Appendix F** additional quantitative data analysis findings.



Funding Structure

All seven of the NCCCS Promise Program schools that were interviewed and/or provided data classify their programs as having last-dollar funding schemes. Three NCCCS colleges provided data on their average Promise Program scholarship amounts, which ranged from about \$200 to \$2,000 per year. As last-dollar programs, the Promise scholarships alone do not cover 100% of tuition for all students. Notably, one of the colleges reported that only 28% of their program participants receive Promise scholarships, because the other 72% receive external aid that covers their tuition. 92

One interviewee, who administers an endowment-funded Promise Program, wished that their college could offer stipends to meet non-tuition needs, which would replicate a **middle-dollar funding scheme**. An administrator of a county-funded program shared that, contingent on availability, their college offers students \$1,000 per year for required course supplies and a one-time laptop stipend. The administrator highlighted that funding non-tuition costs is critical because a program could "waste a thousand dollars on tuition if [a student] will then have to drop out because they can't buy the book…we want to make sure we are serving that student, and their success would be hindered if additional costs got in the way."93

Every interviewee cited the **FAFSA** as a potential obstacle for applicants. Two administrators from programs with differing funding sources both thought their students could be deterred from completing the FAFSA if they assumed that they would not be eligible for need-based aid. Other administrators cited equity-related concerns with the FAFSA, especially for first-generation students: the form could be intimidating or unfamiliar, and parents might not have easy access to or be willing to share the needed information. To partially address some equity concerns, two colleges reported that they have separate funding options for undocumented or DACA students, since their programs are only available for citizens. The four interviewed colleges all mitigate barriers to access, such as FAFSA completion, by offering direct support services to local high schools. To reach and assist applicants, one administrator from a small county-funded program spends one day per

week at each high school within the county. Another administrator from a county-funded program serving a larger region relies heavily on high school support staff.



Eligibility Requirements

All of the interviewees were passionate about their Promise Program's role in honoring NCCCS's "open door" ideal, but most acknowledged that barriers arose from at least one of their eligibility requirements. All the interviewed colleges require county residency, two require some level of CCP participation, and two have a minimum high school GPA. County-specific limitations are currently unavoidable but would be eliminated with a statewide program.

In terms of **age**, Promise Programs at interviewed colleges were designed for recent high school graduates, but none require enrolling the semester immediately after high school completion. One program allows enrollment within two years of high school completion. At another college, the interviewee expressed interest in expanding Promise Program access regardless of age. To balance cost concerns and access, the interviewee suggested opening eligibility from those who graduated high school in the last year to high school graduates from the past five years.

Only one of the 19 NCCCS colleges with Promise Programs includes **financial need** in their program eligibility. In fact, every interviewee felt that their program fills a critical gap for students ineligible for Pell Grants. One interviewee remarked, "I don't know that all these students would have come here without [the Promise Program] and then we would have missed that investment in the economic health of our students and our local community."⁹⁴

Data show full-time, first-time undergraduates are more likely to receive institutional grant aid at the NCCCS colleges with Promise Programs than at other NCCCS colleges. The 19 NCCCS schools with Promise Programs provided 22% of their full-time, first-time undergraduates with institutional grant aid, on average, compared to a 12% average for the other 39 NCCCS schools. The average amount of grant aid per student at Promise Program colleges was \$1,374, slightly higher than the \$1,175 per student average across the non-Promise Program colleges awarding grant aid.⁹⁵

Given that billions of dollars in free Pell grants remain unclaimed each year, the generosity of a Promise Program could draw interest from Pell-eligible students who might not pursue college due to cost concerns. One interviewee estimated that around half of their college's Promise Program participants received federal aid. Across all NCCCS colleges with Promise Programs, the average share of undergraduates awarded Pell Grants was 38%, and the average amount of Pell Grant aid awarded per student was \$5,220. These figures are slightly higher than the averages at non-Promise colleges. This may indicate a positive correlation between the existence of Promise

Programs and increased enrollment of Pell-eligible students at NCCCS colleges, but more research would be needed to confirm that relationship.⁹⁷

A majority of NCCCS Promise Programs have **merit**-based eligibility components, with most requiring some CCP participation and many stipulating a minimum high school GPA. Most of the interviewees did not think that their merit-based standards hindered program access. One college, which required CCP but did not have a minimum GPA requirement, estimated that fewer than ten out of over 200 students who expressed interest in their program were at risk for not meeting the eligibility requirement. Only one interviewed college did not limit eligibility through merit; **the college believes that if CCP were required, students who their college wants to serve would be "left behind."**

To ensure eligible students can access the Promise Programs, all the interviewed colleges offer preenrollment support services. Designated staff work with local high schools to promote the program and help with applications. Most of the colleges avoid strict deadlines and make grant offers for as long as possible—one interviewee, whose Promise Program had a minimum high school GPA but no CCP requirement, reported that they have accepted students as late as four days before the start of the semester. Through support services, administrators hope to foster a "college-going culture," in which students believe that postsecondary education is within reach. One administrator, from a rural college near an urban center, felt their program was already increasing those feelings locally.



Persistence Requirements

Persistence criteria were not discussed as frequently in interviews because the staff primarily work in program admissions, but retention is a priority for any college. The average retention rate across NCCCS colleges with Promise Programs is 62%, in line with the average retention rate across all NCCCS schools. ⁹⁹ One college reported that, of those who received scholarships in the 2020-2021 academic year, the majority were returning students. However, they did not specify whether the non-returning students graduated or dropped out of school or the Promise Program. ¹⁰⁰

Most NCCCS colleges have a **merit** persistence requirement of a minimum GPA for maintaining program funding. One college requires a cumulative 2.0 GPA, but allows a lag period across semesters to give students time to bring grades back up if they struggle.

Concerning **minimum course load**, one college was unique in not having a full-time enrollment requirement, though students can only receive funds over the course of two years. Another interviewee expressed an interest in funding part-time students, who are not currently eligible for their program, but acknowledged that a credit hour or semester cap would likely be needed for financial sustainability.

Conclusion: Statewide Community College Promise Program Key to North Carolina's Education Future

North Carolina can make meaningful progress toward increasing postsecondary educational attainment by expanding access to community college through a statewide community college Promise Program. The state could incorporate the following best practices in a statewide community college Promise Program to increase attainment and maximize access, equity, and cost-effectiveness:



Adopt a middle-dollar funding scheme for students' tuition, fees, and supply costs, with available funds for students' additional expenses, combined with a FAFSA requirement.



Avoid eligibility requirements, particularly merit-based criteria.



Incorporate proven persistence requirements of an annual credit and cumulative GPA minimum, paired with mandatory support services for students struggling with college academic requirements.

If there is interest in further research on this topic, conducting a survey or focus group study to assess the Promise Program participant experience would be recommended. For more detail on opportunities for additional research, see **Annendix G**.



Appendix A: Research Methodology

A mix of qualitative and quantitative research was used to identify best practices for a statewide community college Promise Program in North Carolina. Below is a description of the methodology for each of the four research methods.

Literature Review

The team reviewed the existing literature on Promise Programs to identify best practices and successful efforts to balance access, equity, and cost-effectiveness. The two goals of the literature review were to identify criteria by which to determine best design practices and examine what other scholars have found on Promise Program design across the US.

Case Studies

Of the existing 30 statewide Promise Programs, three states were selected for case studies. States were primarily selected based on the amount of publicly available information, but the team also tried to identify states with demographic similarities to North Carolina and programs that are community college-focused with unique variations in program design.

Interviews

Administrators from four of the 19 NCCCS schools with Promise Programs were interviewed in March 2021. Although all 19 Programs are relatively new and have limited data, administrators were able to share their Program's experience with common barriers to access, equity, and cost-effectiveness. Colleges were identified for interviews by balancing a variety of locations, enrollment sizes, and number and stringency of eligibility requirements. All interview findings have been anonymized to protect the privacy of the colleges and their students.

Data Analysis

Descriptive statistics were produced on educational attainment, community college financing and enrollment, and the NCCCS Promise Programs and Promise Program recipients. The team used data from the US Census Bureau's American Community Survey (ACS) Five-Year Estimates and the Integrated Postsecondary Education Data System (IPEDS) to produce these statistics.

The ACS and IPEDS data were supplemented by data requested from the 19 NCCCS colleges with Promise Programs. Only four colleges provided data. One school declined to provide data, citing their privacy policy, and one school was unable to provide data by the requested deadline. The remaining 13 colleges either did not respond to the request or initially responded for clarification but never responded to a follow-up email. All NCCCS data and analysis findings have been anonymized to protect the privacy of the colleges and their students.

Appendix B: Key Term Definitions

Affordability: In this context, affordability is the relative inexpensiveness of attending and successfully completing community college in relation to the student's economic possibilities at present and during their time at school. Education affordability implies that education costs are payable in relation to a student's means. It encompasses tuition, fees, housing, food, books, and general living expenses.¹⁰¹

Community Colleges: Postsecondary schools that typically offer individual courses, professional training programs, and up to a two-year degree—sometimes expressly for transfer to a four-year institution—at an affordable cost and to primarily local students. Traditionally, community colleges have been tasked with workforce and economic development programs, providing adult education, existing as a community service, and/or facilitating bachelor's degree attainment. Of the community service, and/or facilitating bachelor's degree attainment.

North Carolina Community College System (NCCCS): The NCCCS has the primary goal of providing high-quality workforce education to North Carolina residents while upholding an "open door" policy, meaning all applicants are admitted, and keeping tuition as low as possible. ¹⁰⁴ There are 58 NCCCS schools located across the state.

Postsecondary Education: Schooling, often for a degree or certificate, past high school. 105

Promise Programs: Programs that increase access and affordability of postsecondary education through place-based scholarships, meaning eligibility is tied to residency in a defined territory. Exact definitions differ as cities and states have created unique programs for their needs, but several sources agree that place-based eligibility and common goals—increasing access through covering most costs, contributing to community and economic development, and building "a college-going culture"—make this distinct from other types of scholarships.

Retention Rate: According to the National Center for Education Statistics, the retention rate is "the percentage of full-time, first-time degree/certificate-seeking undergraduates from the previous fall who are again enrolled in the current fall." ¹⁰⁶

Appendix C: Overview of Promise Program Design Criteria



Funding Structure

Funding Scheme: Options for funding scheme are first-, middle-, or last-dollar. Programs can also choose to fund tuition only; tuition and fees; or tuition, fees, and other costs (e.g., supplies).

FAFSA Completion: Promise Programs usually require students to fill out the FAFSA.¹⁰⁷



Eligibility Requirements

These are criteria that students must meet to be eligible for the Promise Program.

Age: In this context, age refers to the years since the student has graduated high school. The majority of Promise Programs serve recent high school graduates. ¹⁰⁸

Financial Need: Programs may choose to limit eligibility to students below an income threshold.

Degree Specification: Programs may choose to limit eligibility to only certain degree types.

Merit: This refers to academic merit, whether indicated by GPA, completing dual enrollment college courses, or other measures. Many Promise Programs have minimum GPA or SAT score requirements.¹⁰⁹



Persistence Requirements

These are criteria that recipients must meet to continue participation in the Promise Program.

Minimum Course Load: Some Promise Programs require that students maintain a minimum course or credit load during the time they are students.¹¹⁰ Other potential requirements under this criterion include maintaining full-time status and continuous enrollment.

Support Services: These are services that help students to apply to college and/or complete their degree. These services can be mandatory or non-mandatory.

Community Service: Programs may require students to complete some amount of community service.

Merit: This is the minimum academic achievement (e.g., GPA) that a student must maintain while enrolled in college.

Appendix D: Interview Guide

Interview questions for staff involved in administering four NCCCS Promise Programs included:

- 1. Describe your role, the students your team serves within your college's community, and the role your college plays within the surrounding county or counties.
- 2. How long has your college and/or community offered the Promise Program? How would you describe the implementation so far?
- 3. What does having a Promise Program at your college mean to you? What does the NCCCS "open door" ideal mean to you?
- 4. How do your Promise Program students compare to the overall student population?
- 5. What common challenges do students face when trying to figure out financial aid to attend your college, or when applying for the Promise Program?
- 6. What are common challenges that you face in carrying out the administration of the Promise Program, and/or in your job generally?
- 7. How would you describe your team's typical use of "professional judgement," if relevant? Did your team have established or informal guidelines for applying "professional judgement" to aid decisions prior to COVID-19, and if so, have they changed at all?
- 8. What are some strengths of your Promise Program, and are there any areas for improvement? How do these compare to other areas of your work?
- 9. Do you have a sense for the "cost-effectiveness," meaning total costs for the program—with staff time and programming, in addition to tuition—relative to the number of student participants? What factors influence that ratio for your program?
- 10. If the state were to create a statewide community college Promise Program, what impact would it have on students your school serves, and what would be the essential program elements needed to make the program successful?

Appendix E: Data Request

The following data were requested from the 19 NCCCS schools with Promise Programs:

- 1. Year the Promise Program started
- 2. # of Promise Program applicants
- 3. # of rejected Promise Program applicants
- 4. # of Promise Program recipients (total, not just first-year students)
- 5. Average Promise scholarship award amount (for all recipients, not just first-years)
- 6. Total dollar amount of Promise scholarships distributed
- 7. Average household adjusted gross income of Promise Program recipients (for all recipients, not just first-years)
- 8. Racial/ethnic breakdown of Promise Program recipients (for all recipients, not just first-years)
 - Categories (from US Census Bureau): Hispanic, White, Black or African American, Asian,
 American Indian/Alaska Native, Native Hawaiian/Other Pacific Islander, Two or More
 Races
- 9. Average high school GPA of Promise Program recipients who attended high school (total, not just first-year students)

Appendix F: Additional Quantitative Data Analysis Findings

Enrollment Data Findings

Currently, total enrollment at NCCCS colleges ranges from 514 through 10,414. The average enrollment size was slightly lower for Promise Program schools (3,530) than non-Promise Program schools (3,964).¹¹¹

The average racial and ethnic makeup of the student body across all Promise Program colleges is similar to the racial and ethnic makeup across all 58 NCCCS colleges. Much like the makeup of North Carolina as a whole, the majority of NCCCS students are White. Only 13 of the 58 NCCCS schools have student bodies that are not majority White, though White students are still a plurality of the student body population at seven of these 13 schools. Of the six colleges with largely non-White student bodies, five have a majority or plurality of Black students, and one has a plurality of American Indian/Alaska Native students. 112

Financing Data Findings

The average total price across all NCCCS colleges for in-state community college students who are living alone is \$17,089. At schools with Promise Programs, the average total price is slightly lower, at \$17,003 for students living alone.¹¹³

Received Promise Program Data and Findings

All four Promise Programs for which the team received data are relatively new. Of the three programs that are more than one year old, two have experienced growth in program size that outpaces growth in curriculum enrollment. In the most recent academic year for which the team received data, the number of Promise Program recipients ranged from one percent to seven percent of total curriculum enrollment at each school.¹¹⁴

For the three colleges that provided data on the demographic breakdown of their Promise Program participants, the demographic makeup of scholarship recipients compared to the demographic makeup of the college's student body varied. At some schools in certain years, the Promise participant racial/ethnic breakdown is representative of the larger student body, but at other schools/in other years, the share of White Promise participants is greater than the share of White students in the college's student body. 115

Tables I-A through I-D contain the complete Promise Program data received from all four schools that provided data. Missing cells indicate data that were not provided.

Table I-A. NCCCS Promise Program Data: School A

Academic Year	# of Applicants	# of Rejected Applicants			Total Promise \$ Distributed	Avg. Household AGI	# of Promise Program Recipients, by Race/Ethnicity										
			# of Recipients	Avg. Award Amount			Hispanic	White	Black/ African- American	American Indian/ Alaska Native	Native Hawaiian/ Other Pacific Islander	Some Other Race	Two+ Races	Avg. HS GPA			
2019-2020	366		112	\$2,188.51	\$258,244		4	100	1			5	2				
2018-2019	297		90	\$2,174.35	\$217,435		4	73	4			5	3				
2017-2018	182		60	\$2,185.42	\$135,496		2	49	6	2		1					

Table I-B. NCCCS Promise Program Data: School B

				_		_	# of Promise Program Recipients, by Race/Ethnicity									
Academic Year	# of Applicants	# of Rejected Applicants	# of Recipients	Avg. Award Amount	Total Promise \$ Distributed	Avg. Household AGI	Hispanic	White	Black/ African- American	American Indian/ Alaska Native	Native Hawaiian/ Other Pacific Islander	Some Other Race	Two+ Races	Avg. HS GPA		
2020-2021	113	3	75	\$940*	\$19,756	\$74,973	12	51	3	2	0	4	0	3.03		

^{*}Average award amount for Fall 2020. Spring 2021 award amounts had not been decided at the time of research.

Table I-C. NCCCS Promise Program Data: School C

							# of Promise Program Recipients, by Race/Ethnicity										
Academic Year	# of Applicants	# of Rejected Applicants	# of Recipients	Avg. Award Amount	Total Promise \$ Distributed	Avg. Household AGI	Hispanic	White	Black/ African- American	American Indian/ Alaska Native	Native Hawaiian/ Other Pacific Islander	Some Other Race	Two+ Races	Avg. HS GPA			
2020-2021			31*														
2019-2020			31														

^{*}Twelve of these students were new recipients, and 19 were returning recipients.

Table I-D. NCCCS Promise Program Data: School D

Academic Year	# of Applicants	# of Rejected Applicants	# of Recipients	Avg. Award Amount	Total Promise \$ Distributed	Avg. EFC*	# of Promise Program Recipients, by Race/Ethnicity									
							Hispanic	White	Black/ African- American	American Indian/ Alaska Native	Native Hawaiian/ Other Pacific Islander	Some Other Race	Two+ Races	Avg. HS GPA		
2020-2021			47	\$182.39	\$8,572.50	\$6,002	13	30	3	1				3.41		
2019-2020			26	\$492.76	\$12,812	\$15,054	4	19	1				2	3.53		
2018-2019			17	\$249.76	\$3,247	\$5,275	5	12						3.5		
2017-2018			15	\$369.2	\$5,538	\$4,481	7	6	1		1			3.26		

^{*}Instead of Average Household Adjusted Gross Income, this school provided Average Expected Family Contribution, which it uses to determine scholarship amounts.

Appendix G: Further Research

Promise Program research, both within North Carolina and across the country, remains limited. This is likely because many of these programs have been implemented too recently to have large amounts of data to analyze. Interested researchers may simply have to wait until there is sufficient data and evidence to report more extensively on the efficacy of newly implemented programs. There are, however, some areas of study that would be feasible and useful to examine now, which are described below.

Promise Program Participant Experience: Understanding how a policy's target population views the current system is one of the most useful sources of information for designing effective, equitable policies. A well-designed participant survey or focus group study could provide data on participants' program experience, including any remaining financial barriers under various funding schemes and areas for program improvement. The team asked interviewees if it would be feasible for researchers to speak with their college's Promise participants in the future, and three of the four colleges said this would be relatively easy to do.

If researchers are interested in requesting and analyzing additional Promise Program data, scheduling more time to obtain data is recommended, to allow for follow up contacts with nonresponding institutions. Interested researchers should reach out to the school's institutional research department directly, if it has one, as these were often the departments to whom the team was directed for this report's data request.

Potential Participant/Non-participant Experience: Researchers should also consider studying eligible but non-participating or interested students, in addition to current Promise recipients, to identify barriers to entry and whether those barriers are structural (e.g., rigid program requirements), informational (e.g., never hearing about the program), or administrative (e.g., difficult to file relevant paperwork).

References

- ¹ Michelle Miller-Adams, *Promise Nation: Transforming Communities through Place-Based Scholarships* (Upjohn Press, 2015), https://research.upjohn.org/up_press/235; Denisa Gándara and Amy Li, "Promise for Whom? 'Free-College' Programs and Enrollments by Race and Gender Classifications at Public, 2-Year Colleges," *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis* 42, no. 4 (December 1, 2020): 603–27, https://doi.org/10.3102/0162373720962472; Laura W. Perna and Elaine W. Leigh, "Understanding the Promise: A Typology of State and Local College Promise Programs," *Educational Researcher* 47, no. 3 (April 1, 2018): 155–80, https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X17742653.; Timothy J. Bartik, Brad J. Hershbein, and Marta Lachowska, "The Effects of the Kalamazoo Promise Scholarship on College Enrollment, Persistence, and Completion," *Upjohn Institute* Working Paper 15-229 (2017): 1-64, https://doi.org/10.17848/wp15-229.
- ² "Demonstrating the Collective Economic Value of North Carolina Community Colleges: Fact Sheet," Economic Modeling Specialists International (February 2015): 3, https://www.nccommunitycolleges.edu/sites/default/files/basic-page-file-uploads/nccc_factsheet_1213_final_datedfeb2015.pdf.
- ³ Administrator 1, College 1, interview by Polly Englot and Sarah Colbourn, Zoom, March 19, 2021; Administrator 3, College 3, interview by Polly Englot and Eugenia Rodríguez Cuniolo, Zoom, March 29, 2021; Administrator 4, College 4, interview by Polly Englot and Eugenia Rodríguez Cuniolo, Zoom, March 30, 2021.
- ⁴ "SENATE BILL 81 (2015): The Oregon Promise Report from Year 3," Higher Education Coordinating Commission (December 2018): 4-14, https://www.oregon.gov/highered/research/Documents/Reports/SB-81-Oregon-Promise-2018.pdf.
- ⁵ Meredith Billings, "Free College For All: The Impact Of Promise Programs On College Access And Success," *University of Michigan* (2018): 38-39, 51-52, https://deepblue.lib.umich.edu/bitstream/handle/2027.42/144101/msbill_1.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y.
- ⁶ Bakary Seckan, "The role of socioeconomic status in SAT score, grades and college-admissions decisions," *The Journalist's Resource*, August 29, 2012, https://journalistsresource.org/economics/ses-socioeconomic-status-sat-grade-relationships-and-in-college-admissions-decisions/; Rebecca Zwick and Igor Himelfarb, "The Effect of High School Socioeconomic Status on the Predictive Validity of SAT Scores and High School Grade-Point Average," *Journal of Educational Measurement* 48, no. 2 (2011): 101, http://www.jstor.org/stable/23018085; "Education and Socioeconomic Status," American Psychological Association, accessed April 25, 2021, https://www.apa.org/pi/ses/resources/publications/education.
- ⁷ "The America's College Promise Playbook: Expanding the Promise of a College Education and Economic Opportunity for all Students," U.S. Department of Education (September 2016): 11, https://www.eicc.edu/future-students/events/qc-college-ready/college-promise-playbook.pdf.
- ⁸ Catherine M. Millett, Stephanie R. Saunders, and Daniel Fishtein, "Examining How College Promise Programs Promote Student Academic and Financial Readiness," *ETS* (2018): 14-15, https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1002/ets2.12229.
- ⁹ Michelle Miller-Adams, "What Is a Promise Scholarship Program?" in *Promise Nation: Transforming Communities through Place-Based Scholarships* (Upjohn Press, 2015), 7–11, https://research.upjohn.org/up_press/235; Denise Gándara and Amy Li, "Promise for Whom? 'Free-College' Programs and Enrollments by Race and Gender Classifications at Public, 2-Year Colleges," *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis* 42, no. 4 (December 2020): 603–27, https://doi.org/10.3102/0162373720962472; College Promise, "Catalog of Local and State College Promise Programs," Fall 2020, https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5e44327a52b88927aaaecabd/t/5f58d3e07e871053b883d14f/1599656934346/CollegePromiseCatalog_Rockefeller_Online_Sept2020+%281%29.pdf; Laura W. Perna and Elaine W. Leigh, "Understanding the Promise: A Typology of State and Local College Promise Programs," *Educational Researcher* 47, no. 3 (April 2018): 155–80, https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X17742653.
- ¹⁰ Nicholas P. Triplett and James E. Ford, "E(Race)Ing Inequities: The State of Racial Equity in North Carolina Public Schools" (The Center for Racial Equity in Education, 2019), https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5f68eb9cb662f642afcb0e2b/t/5f724023bf128a585f978db1/1601323047349/Eraceing-Inequities.pdf.
- ¹¹ "Cost-effectiveness," Oxford Languages' Lexico, accessed April 23, 2021, https://www.lexico.com/definition/cost-effectiveness.
- ¹² "A Call to Action for the State of North Carolina," myFutureNC Commission (March 2019): 2, https://www.myfuturenc.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/A-Call-to-Action-Final-Report_040319.pdf; Mark D'Amico and Lisa Chapman, "Community college to university transfer Policy Brief," *myFutureNC Commission*, June 2018: 3 as cited in "A Call to Action for the State of North Carolina," myFutureNC Commission, March 2019.
- ¹³ Rebecca Tippett and Jessica Stanford, "North Carolina's Leaky Educational Pipeline & Pathways to 60% Postsecondary Attainment," *John M. Belk Endowment, Carolina Demography, Carolina Population Center Of the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill* (February 2019): 11, https://ncedpipeline.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/NC-Leaky-

Pipeline_FINAL.pdf; Anita Brown-Graham and Catherine Moga Bryant, "A focus on noncompleters: One strategy for upskilling the existing workforce in NC - Policy Brief," myFutureNC Commission (June 2018): 1 as cited in "A Call to Action for the State of North Carolina," myFutureNC Commission, March 2019.

- ¹⁴ "Tracking America's Progress toward 2025," Lumina Foundation, last updated February 2021, https://www.luminafoundation.org/stronger-nation/report/2021/#nation.
- ¹⁵ EdNC Survey for myFutureNC as cited in "A Call to Action for the State of North Carolina," 114.
- ¹⁶ "A Call to Action for the State of North Carolina," 48.
- ¹⁷ Laura Meckler and Danielle Douglas-Gabriel, "Biden's mammoth education agenda would expand the federal role from cradle to college," *Washington Post*, April 21, 2021, https://www.washingtonpost.com/education/2021/04/21/bideneducation-spending-race-proposals/.
- ¹⁸ Jen Mishory, "The Future of Statewide College Promise Programs," *The Century Foundation*, March 6, 2018, https://tcf.org/content/report/future-statewide-college-promise-programs/?session=1; The Association of Community College Trustees, "First-Dollar vs. Last-Dollar Promise Models," ACCT, February 10, 2021, https://www.acct.org/page/first-dollar-promise-models.
- ¹⁹ "Biden brass visit Illinois, North Carolina community colleges," *Community College Daily*, April 19, 2021, https://www.ccdaily.com/2021/04/championing-college-promise-programs/.
- ²⁰ Robert Farrington, "These States Offer Tuition-Free Community College," *Forbes*, March 25, 2020, https://www.forbes.com/sites/robertfarrington/2020/03/25/these-states-offer-tuition-free-community-college/?sh=3f77ba4114cf.
- ²¹ "Catalog of Local and State College Promise Programs," 66-68; "NC Affordable Education" AffordableEducation.org by the NCCCS, accessed February 8, 2021, https://affordableeducation.org/.
- ²² "Catalog of Local and State College Promise Programs," 66-68.
- ²³ Sarah Pingel, Emily Parker, and Lauren Sisneros, "Free community college: An approach to increase adult student success in postsecondary education," *Education Commission of the States*, November 2016, https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED570988.pdf.
- ²⁴ Ellie Ashford, "Promise programs do better with support services," *Community College Daily*, April 24, 2019, https://www.ccdaily.com/2019/04/promise-programs-better-support-services/; Rauner, Lundquist, and Smith, "The College Promise Guidebook." 61.
- ²⁵ Elizabeth Mann Levesque, "Improving Community College Completion Rates by Addressing Structural and Motivational Barriers," *Brookings*, October 8, 2018, https://www.brookings.edu/research/community-college-completion-rates-structural-and-motivational-barriers/; Miller-Adams, "What Is a Promise Scholarship Program?", 7–11; Perna and Leigh, "Understanding the Promise," 155–80.
- ²⁶ Bartik, Hershbein, and Lachowska, "The Effects of the Kalamazoo Promise Scholarship on College Enrollment, Persistence, and Completion," 1-64.
- ²⁷ Gándara and Li, "Promise for Whom?", 604.
- ²⁸ Elizabeth Vaade and Bo McCready, "Which Students to Serve? Universal or Targeted Eligibility for Postsecondary Opportunity Programs," *University of Wisconsin Policy Brief* (January 10, 2011): 1-2, https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED515657.pdf; Elise Swanson, Angela Watson, Gary Ritter, and Malachi Nichols, "Promises Fulfilled? A Systematic Review of the Impacts of Promise Programs," *Department of Education Reform of the University of Arkansas* (October 26, 2017): 34-39, http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2849194.
- ²⁹ Lindsay C. Page, Jennifer E. Iriti, Danielle J. Lowry, and Aaron M. Anthony, "The Promise of Place-Based Investment in Postsecondary Access and Success: Investigating the Impact of the Pittsburgh Promise," *Association for Education Finance and Policy* (2018): 594, https://direct.mit.edu/edfp/article/14/4/572/12330/The-Promise-of-Place-Based-Investment-in.
- 30 Gándara and Li, "Promise for Whom?", 604.
- ³¹ Teri Lyn Hinds, "State Investment in Higher Ed: Free College and Promise Programs in 2019," *NASPA*, March 21, 2019, https://www.naspa.org/blog/state-investment-in-higher-ed-free-college-and-promise-programs-in-2019.
- ³² "Don't Stop Believin' (in the value of a college degree)," US House of Representatives Committee on Education and Labor, March 8, 2019, https://edlabor.house.gov/imo/media/doc/FINAL%20VALUE%200F%20COLLEGE%20REPORT.pdf.
- 33 "Demonstrating the Collective Economic Value of North Carolina Community Colleges," 3.
- ³⁴ David Deming and Susan Dynarski, "Into College, Out of Poverty? Policies to Increase the Postsecondary Attainment of the Poor," *NBER* Working Paper 15387 (September 2009): 4, http://www.nber.org/papers/w1538; Jennifer L. Doleac and Chloe R. Gibbs, "A Promising Alternative: How Making College Free Affects Teens' Risky Behaviors," Unpublished

manuscript (May 2016): 16, http://jenniferdoleac.com/wpcontent/uploads/2015/03/Doleac_Gibbs_PromiseRiskyBehaviors.pdf.

- ³⁵ Laura W. Perna, "Delivering On the Promise: Structuring College Promise Programs to Promote Higher Education Attainment for Students from Underserved Groups," *Penn AHEAD* (October 2016): 3, https://repository.upenn.edu/ahead_papers/28.
- ³⁶ Susan Dynarski and Mark Wiederspan, "Student Aid Simplification: Looking Back and Looking Ahead," *NBER* Working Paper 17834 (February 2012): 1-2, http://www.nber.org/papers/w1783; Sara Goldrick-Rab, "Challenges and opportunities for improving community college student success," *Review of Educational Research* 80, no. 3 (2010): 437–469, https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654310370163; Eleanor Eckerson Peters, Amanda Janice Roberson, and Mamie Voight, "The burden of non-tuition costs," *Institute for Higher Education Policy*, 2019, https://vtechworks.lib.vt.edu/bitstream/handle/10919/92661/NonTuitionCostsBurdens.pdf as cited in Laura W. Perna, Jeremy Wright-Kim, and Elaine W. Leigh, "Is a College Promise Program an Effective Use of Resources? Understanding the Implications of Program Design and Resource Investments for Equity and Efficiency," *AERA Open* (December 2020): 9-10, https://doi.org/10.1177/2332858420967633.
- ³⁷ Perna, "Delivering On the Promise," 3.
- ³⁸ Sara Goldrick-Rab, Robert Kelchen, Douglas N. Harris, and James Benson, "Hungry to learn: Addressing food and housing insecurity among undergraduates," *American Journal of Sociology* 121, no. 6 (May 2016), https://doi.org/10.1086/685442 as cited in Millett, Saunders, and Fishtein, "Examining How College Promise Programs Promote Student Academic and Financial Readiness," 15.
- ³⁹ Goldrick-Rab, Kelchen, Harris, and Benson, "Hungry to learn," as cited in Millett, Saunders, and Fishtein, "Examining How College Promise Programs Promote Student Academic and Financial Readiness," 15.
- 40 "Hawai'i Promise Program," University of Hawai'i Community Colleges, accessed April 14, 2021, http://uhcc.hawaii.edu/ovpcc/removing-cost/promise; "Oregon Promise Grant," Higher Education Coordinating Commission Office of Student Access and Completion, accessed April 14, 2021, https://oregonstudentaid.gov/oregon-promise.aspx.
- ⁴¹ Pingel, Parker, and Sisneros, "Free community college."
- ⁴² Laura Horn, Emily Forrest Cataldi, and Anna Sikora, "Waiting to attend college: Undergraduates who delay their postsecondary enrollment: Postsecondary education descriptive analysis report," NCES U.S. Department of Education, 2005, https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2005/2005152.pdf as cited in Mary Rauner, Sara Lundquist, and Amelia Smith, "The College Promise Guidebook," *California College Promise Project* (2019): 44, https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2005/2005152.pdf.
- ⁴³ Kelli A. Bird, Benjamin L. Castleman, Jason Lee and Amy Moreland, "Free for All: An Early Evaluation of an Adult Promise Program in Tennessee," *Association for Public Policy Analysis and Management*, 2019, https://appam.confex.com/appam/2019/webprogram/Paper33138.html.
- 44 Gándara and Li, "Promise for Whom?", 618.
- ⁴⁵ Billings, "Free College For All," 76.
- ⁴⁶ Estelle Herbaut and Koen Martijn Geven, "What Works to Reduce Inequalities in Higher Education? A Systematic Review of the (Quasi-)Experimental Literature on Outreach and Financial Aid," *World Bank Policy Research* Working Paper No. 8802, April 3, 2019, https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3364697
- ⁴⁷ Billings, "Free College For All," 51-52.
- ⁴⁸ Billings, "Free College For All," 51-52; Meredith Billings, "Understanding the design of college promise programs, and where to go from here," *Brookings*, September 18, 2018, https://www.brookings.edu/blog/brown-center-chalkboard/2018/09/18/understanding-the-design-of-college-promise-programs-and-where-to-go-from-here/.
- ⁴⁹ Douglas N. Harris, "The promise of free college (and its potential pitfalls)," *Brown Center on Education Policy at Brookings* (September 2018): 2, https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/GS_9202018_Free-College.pdf.
- ⁵⁰ Seckan, "The role of socioeconomic status in SAT score, grades and college-admissions decisions"; Zwick and Himelfarb, "The Effect of High School Socioeconomic Status on the Predictive Validity of SAT Scores and High School Grade-Point Average"; "Education and Socioeconomic Status."
- ⁵¹ Clive Belfield, Davis Jenkens, and Hana Lahr, "Momentum: The Academic and Economic Value of a 15-Credit First Semester Course Load for College Students In Tennessee," *Community College Research Center Tennessee*, 2016, https://ccrc.tc.columbia.edu/publications/momentum-15-credit-course-load.html as cited in Mishory, "The Future of Statewide College Promise Programs."
- ⁵² Tiffany Jones and Katie Berger, "A promise fulfilled: A framework for equitable free college programs," *The Education Trust*, 2018, https://s3-us-east2.amazonaws.com/edtrustmain/wpcontent/uploads/2018/09/05155636/A-Promise-

Fulfilled-A-Framework-for-Equitable-Free-CollegeProgramsCollege Programs-9.6-18.pdf as cited in Rauner, Lundquist, and Smith, "The College Promise Guidebook," 42.

- ⁵³ Perna, Wright-Kim, and Leigh, "Is a College Promise Program an Effective Use of Resources?", 9-10.
- ⁵⁴ Millett, Saunders, and Fishtein, "Examining How College Promise Programs Promote Student Academic and Financial Readiness," 14-15.
- ⁵⁵ Millett, Saunders, and Fishtein, "Examining How College Promise Programs Promote Student Academic and Financial Readiness," 16.
- ⁵⁶ Ashford, "Promise programs do better with support services," 61.
- ⁵⁷ Julie Edmunds, "The transition from high school to college in North Carolina Policy Brief," myFutureNC Commission (September 2018): 3 as cited in "A Call to Action for the State of North Carolina," 48.
- ⁵⁸ Janet Eyler, Dwight E. Giles Jr., Christine M. Stenson, Charlene J. Gray, "At A Glance: What We Know about The Effects of Service-Learning on College Students, Faculty, Institutions and Communities," Higher Education, Paper 139, 2001: 3-4, https://digitalcommons.unomaha.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1137&context=slcehighered
- ⁵⁹ "The America's College Promise Playbook: Expanding the Promise of a College Education and Economic Opportunity for all Students," 11.
- ⁶⁰ Kasey Meehan, Shanell Hagood, M. Kate Callahan, and Daniel C. Kent, "The Case of Tennessee Promise: A Uniquely Comprehensive Promise Program," Research for Action (December 2019): 4-5, https://8rri53pm0cs22jk3vvqna1ub-wpengine.netdna-ssl.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/12/RFA-Tennessee-Case-Study-Dec-2019-FINAL.pdf.
- ⁶¹ Meehan, Hagood, Callahan, and Kent, "The Case of Tennessee Promise," 5.
- ⁶² Hieu Nguyen, "Free College? Assessing enrollment responses to the Tennessee Promise program," *Labour Economics* 66 (October 2020): 6-8, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.labeco.2020.101882.
- ⁶³ "Tennessee Promise Annual Report 2021," Tennessee Higher Education Commission, 6, https://www.tn.gov/thec/research/tn-promise-annual-report.html.
- 64 "Tennessee Promise Annual Report 2021," 6.
- 65 "Tennessee Promise Annual Report 2021," 16.
- 66 "Tennessee Promise Annual Report 2021," 6.
- ⁶⁷ "Tennessee Promise Annual Report 2021," 27.
- ⁶⁸ "Tennessee Promise Annual Report 2021," 6.
- ⁶⁹ Burkander, Ballerini, Kent, and Callahan, "The Case of Delaware's SEED Scholarship," 3.
- ⁷⁰ Samantha Constantine and David Satran, "SEED scholarship works for students 'in the middle:' Delaware Voices," *Delaware Online*, September 8, 2017, https://www.delawareonline.com/story/opinion/contributors/2017/09/08/seed-scholarship-works-students-in-middle-delaware-voices/642200001/.
- ⁷¹ Burkander, Ballerini, Kent, and Callahan, "The Case of Delaware's SEED Scholarship," 8.
- ⁷² Kri Burkander, Victoria Ballerini, Daniel C. Kent, and M. Kate Callahan, "The Case of Delaware's SEED Scholarship: A Well-Established but Lesser-Known Promise Program," Research for Action (December 2019): 6, https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED603806.pdf.
- ⁷³ Burkander, Ballerini, Kent, and Callahan, "The Case of Delaware's SEED Scholarship," 6-7; Mia Bird and Amy Lerman, "Expanding Education, Reducing Recidivism," *Public Policy Institute of California*, August 19, 2015, https://www.ppic.org/blog/expanding-education-reducing-recidivism/.
- ⁷⁴ Burkander, Ballerini, Kent, and Callahan, "The Case of Delaware's SEED Scholarship," 8.
- ⁷⁵ Joshua Rovner, "Racial Disparities in Youth Commitments and Arrests," *The Sentencing Project*, April 1, 2016, https://www.sentencingproject.org/publications/racial-disparities-in-youth-commitments-and-arrests/; Linda Darling-Hammond, "Unequal Opportunity: Race and Education," *Brookings Institution*, first published March 1, 1998, https://www.brookings.edu/articles/unequal-opportunity-race-and-education/.
- ⁷⁶ Burkander, Ballerini, Kent, and Callahan, "The Case of Delaware's SEED Scholarship," 5.
- 77 Constantine and Satran, "SEED scholarship works for students 'in the middle'."
- ⁷⁸ Burkander, Ballerini, Kent, and Callahan, "The Case of Delaware's SEED Scholarship," 3.
- ⁷⁹ Burkander, Ballerini, Kent, and Callahan, "The Case of Delaware's SEED Scholarship," 4.
- ⁸⁰ "10 Things You Might Not Know About Delaware Tech," Delaware Technical Community College, accessed April 13, 2021, https://www.dtcc.edu/about/news/2018/04/05/10-things-you-might-not-know-about-delaware-tech.
- ⁸¹ Mishory, "The Future of Statewide College Promise Programs."
- 82 "SENATE BILL 81 (2015)," 4.

- 83 "SENATE BILL 81 (2015)," 4.
- 84 "SENATE BILL 81 (2015)," 4.
- 85 "SENATE BILL 81 (2015)," 15.
- 86 "SENATE BILL 81 (2015)," ix.
- ⁸⁷ "SENATE BILL 81 (2015)," 14; Kri Burkander, Daniel C. Kent, and M. Kate Callahan, "The Case of Oregon Promise: An Early Adopter Focused on Broadening Access," Research for Action (December 2019): 3,
- https://8rri53pm0cs22jk3vvqna1ub-wpengine.netdna-ssl.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/12/RFA-Oregon-Case-Study-Dec-2019-FINAL-v2.pdf.
- ⁸⁸ "SENATE BILL 81 (2015)," ix; "Factsheets: First-Generation Students," Postsecondary National Policy Institute, last updated February 2021, https://pnpi.org/first-generation-students/.
- ⁸⁹ Burkander, Kent, and Callahan, "The Case of Oregon Promise," 3; Andrew Theen, "Oregon Promise will be 'significantly' changed 2 years after it started," *The Oregonian*, first published June 28, 2017, https://www.oregonlive.com/education/2017/06/oregon_promise_will_be_signifi.html.
- 90 Theen, "Oregon Promise will be 'significantly' changed 2 years after it started."
- ⁹¹ Lauren Murphy, "Oregon's Broken Promise: State defunds a lifeline for college students," *Keizertimes*, September 11, 2020, https://www.keizertimes.com/posts/1952/oregons-broken-promise-state-defunds-a-lifeline-for-college-students.
- 92 Researchers' analysis of received NCCCS Promise Program data.
- 93 Administrator 4, College 4, interview.
- 94 Administrator 1, College 1, interview.
- ⁹⁵ U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, Integrated Postsecondary Education Data System (IPEDS), 2018-2019, retrieved on March 15, 2021.
- ⁹⁶ John F. Wasik, "How To Grab Nearly \$3 Billion Of College Aid," *Forbes*, October 19, 2018, https://www.forbes.com/sites/johnwasik/2018/10/19/how-to-grab-nearly-3-billion-of-college-aid/?sh=17762f1445ce.
- 97 IPEDS, 2018-2019, retrieved on March 15, 2021.
- 98 Administrator 4, College 4, interview.
- 99 IPEDS, 2018-2019, retrieved on March 15, 2021.
- ¹⁰⁰ Researchers' analysis of received NCCCS Promise Program data.
- ¹⁰¹ Elizabeth Driscoll, "Higher Education: A Perspective of Administration, Access, Affordability and the Policy that Drives it," *Kent State University* (May 2013): 8, https://www-s3-live.kent.edu/s3fs-root/s3fs-public/Driscoll-Higher-Education-A-Perspectiveof-Administration-Access-Affordability-and-the-Policy-that-Drives-ItElizabeth-M-Driscoll.pdf.
- 102 Department of Homeland Security, "What Is Community College? | Study in the States," March 13, 2012, https://studyinthestates.dhs.gov/2012/03/what-community-college.
- 103 Kevin J. Dougherty and Barbara K. Townsend, "Community College Missions: A Theoretical and Historical Perspective," New Directions for Community Colleges 2006, no. 136 (2006): 5–13, https://doi.org/10.1002/cc.254.
- ¹⁰⁴ John Quinterno, "What History Can Tell Us About Our Future," *North Carolina Center for Public Policy Research* (May 2008): 59-61, https://nccppr.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/Community_Colleges_in_NC.pdf; "Mission & History," NC Community Colleges, accessed February 8, 2021, https://www.nccommunitycolleges.edu/mission-history.
- 105 Merriam-Webster, "Definition of POSTSECONDARY," accessed February 6, 2021, https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/postsecondary.
- ¹⁰⁶ "Graduation and Retention Rates What Is the Full-Time Retention Rate in Postsecondary Institutions?," accessed April 13, 2021, https://nces.ed.gov/ipeds/TrendGenerator/app/answer/7/32.
- 107 "Playbook: How to Build a Promise," $College\ Promise\ Campaign\ (2020): 10-11, https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5e44327a52b88927aaaecabd/t/5e5ea97ea1a74e5544394170/1583262096995/City+College-Promise-Playbook.pdf.$
- ¹⁰⁸ "Playbook." 10-11.
- 109 "Playbook," 10-11.
- 110 "Playbook," 10-11.
- 111 "Dashboards," NCCCS, accessed March 3, 2021.
- 112 "Dashboards," NCCCS, accessed March 3, 2021.
- ¹¹³ IPEDS, 2018-2019, retrieved on March 15, 2021.
- 114 Researchers' analysis of received NCCCS Promise Program and IPEDS 2018-2019 data.
- ¹¹⁵ Researchers' analysis of received NCCCS Promise Program and IPEDS 2018-2019 data.

NCCCS Importance Sidebar Citations:

"North Carolina Sets Bar for Statewide Educational Attainment Goal," myFutureNC, accessed February 8, 2021, https://www.myfuturenc.org/news/north-carolina-sets-bar-for-statewide-educational-attainment-goal/.

"About - NCCCS education," YourHireEducation.com - by the NCCCS, https://yourhireeducation.com/about/.

"Community Colleges – MCNC & Total Headcount," NC Community Colleges, accessed February 8, 2021, https://www.nccommunitycolleges.edu/analytics/dashboards/total-headcount.

Walter Dalton, "Perspective | With support, NC's community colleges will lead the way on attainment," *EducationNC*, September 2019, https://www.ednc.org/perspective-with-support-ncs-community-colleges-will-lead-way-on-attainment/.

Mebane Rash, "Is North Carolina improving the transfer process and outcomes? What the research says," *EducationNC*, February 25, 2020, https://www.ednc.org/is-north-carolina-improving-the-transfer-process-and-outcomes-what-the-research-says/.

Southern Regional Education Board, "Table 27: Part-Time Enrollment," SREB Fact Book on Education, accessed January 15, 2019, https://www.sreb.org/post/part-time-enrollment, as cited in John Quinterno, "How the 'open doors' stay open: Funding North Carolina's community colleges," *EducationNC*, March 14, 2019, https://nccppr.org/how-the-open-doors-stay-open-funding-north-carolinas-community-colleges/#fn-69890-54.

"AACC Fast Facts 2020," American Association of Community Colleges, accessed February 8, 2021, https://www.aacc.nche.edu/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/AACC_Fast_Facts_2020_Final.pdf.

"Community Colleges in North Carolina," CollegeCalc.com, accessed February 8, 2021, https://www.collegecalc.org/colleges/north-carolina/community-colleges/.

"2020 Tuition Comparison Between Colleges In North Carolina," College Tuition Compare.com, accessed February 8, 2021, https://www.collegetuitioncompare.com/compare/tables/?state=NC.

Tennessee Promise Sidebar Citations:

"Centers and Initiatives: TN Promise," The College System of Tennessee, accessed April 14, 2021, https://www.tbr.edu/initiatives/tn-promise-0.

Kasey Meehan, Shanell Hagood, M. Kate Callahan, and Daniel C. Kent, "The Case of Tennessee Promise: A Uniquely Comprehensive Promise Program," Research for Action (December 2019): 1-9, https://8rri53pm0cs22jk3vvqna1ub-wpengine.netdna-ssl.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/12/RFA-Tennessee-Case-Study-Dec-2019-FINAL.pdf.

"Tracking America's Progress toward 2025," Lumina Foundation, last updated February 2021, https://www.luminafoundation.org/stronger-nation/report/2021/#nation.

"Tennessee Promise Annual Report 2021," Tennessee Higher Education Commission, 1-35, https://www.tn.gov/thec/research/tn-promise-annual-report.html.

Delaware SEED Sidebar Citations:

Bill DeBaun, "FAFSA Completion Increases Sluggish Nationally in 2018-19 Cycle," National College Attainment Network, July 9, 2018, https://www.ncan.org/news/456155/FAFSA-Completion-Increases-Sluggish-Nationally-in-2018-19-Cycle.htm.

"How to Maintain Eligibility," Delaware Technical Community College, accessed March 31, 2021, https://www.dtcc.edu/admissions-financial-aid/financial-aid-scholarships/types-aid/seed/how-maintain-eligibility.

Kri Burkander, Victoria Ballerini, Daniel C. Kent, and M. Kate Callahan, "The Case of Delaware's SEED Scholarship: A Well-Established but Lesser-Known Promise Program," Research for Action (December 2019): 1-9, https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED603806.pdf.

"Tracking America's Progress toward 2025," Lumina Foundation, last updated February 2021, https://www.luminafoundation.org/stronger-nation/report/2021/#nation.

Oregon Promise Sidebar Citations:

Kri Burkander, Daniel C. Kent, and M. Kate Callahan, "The Case of Oregon Promise: An Early Adopter Focused on Broadening Access," Research for Action (December 2019): 1-10, https://8rri53pm0cs22jk3vvqna1ub-wpengine.netdnassl.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/12/RFA-Oregon-Case-Study-Dec-2019-FINAL-v2.pdf.

"Oregon Promise Frequently Asked Questions," Higher Education Coordinating Commission, accessed April 4, 2021, https://oregonstudentaid.gov/oregon-promise-faq.aspx.

[&]quot;Tracking America's Progress toward 2025," Lumina Foundation, last updated February 2021, https://www.luminafoundation.org/stronger-nation/report/2021/#nation.

[&]quot;#FormYourFuture FAFSA Tracker (through September 11, 2020)," National College Attainment Network, accessed April 12, 2021, https://public.tableau.com/profile/bill.debaun.national.college.access.network#!/vizhome/FormYourFutureFAFSATracker-2020-21FAFSACycleThroughSeptember112020/CurrentWeekRanking.